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March 3, 1997

Leonard J. Callan

Executive Director of Operations
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Washington, D.C. 20555-0001

re: Request for Licensing Actions
10 C.F.R. § 2.206
Northeast Utilities
Millstone Units 1, 2 and 3, and
Connecticut Yankee

Dear Mr, Callan:

Pursuant to 10 C.F.R. § 2.206, this letter constitutes a petition
filed on behalf of Albert A. Cizek, formerly a Senior Engineer and
Engineering Supervisor at Northeast Utilities ("NU"), currently
employed in NU’s Employee Concerns Program ("ECP"), to institute a
proceeding under 10 C.F.R. § 2.202, to modify the licenses issued
to NU to operate the Millstone Nuclear Reactors, Unit 1, Unit 2 and
Unit 3, and Connecticut Yankee by placing certain conditions,
specified herein, on the operating licenses of each of those
facilities. As grounds for this petition, Mr. Cizek maintains that
NU has krowingly, willingly and recklessly operated Millstone Unit
1, Unit 2, Unit 3 at Waterford, CT, and its Connecticut Yankee
Nuclear Power Plant at Haddam Neck, CT, in violation of their
respective cperating licenses, the regulations of the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission ("NRC"), and their respective Updated Final
Safety Analysis Reports ("UFSAR") for a prolonged period of time,
which unnecessarily but significantly compromised public health and
safety by eroding the required defense in depth philosophy; that NU
has knowingly, willingly and intentionally harassed, intimidated
and discriminated against its employees who raise safety concerns
in violation of United States statutes and NRC regulations for a
prolonged period of time. which also has unnecessarily but
significantly compromised publi: “ealth an? safety by eroding the
required defense in depth philowopny; and, that in the absence of
express license conditions, there is no reasonable assurance that
NU will cease and desist from engaging in these activities in the
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future. The basis for the petition is set forth in further detail
below.

Petitioner also requests that public hearings on the petition be
scheduled in the immediate vicinity of the Millstone Nuclear Power
Station and Connecticut Yankee Nuclear Power Station for the
presentation of further evidence in support of the petition.
Petitioner specifically requests that thece public hearings be held
and decision on this petition issued prior to the restart or
decommissioning of any of these units.

Proposed License Conditions

Petitioner proposes the opetat}ng licenses of Millstone Units 1, 2
and 3 and Connecticut Yankee' each be modified to include the
following provisions:

1. Within 30 calendar days of receiving a total of
three license violations from the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory
Commission during any three year period, irrespective of
the violation level, the operating license of the
facility shall be suspended for a period of not less than
90 days and not more than 180 days.

> I Within 30 calendar days of receiving a total of
three violations of 10 C.F.R. Part 50, including all
applicable appendices, from the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory
Commission during any three year period, irrespective of
the violation level, the operating license of the
facility shall be suspended for a period of not less than
90 days and not more than 180 days.

3. Within 30 celendar days of receiving a total of
three violations of the UFSAR from the U.S. Nuclear
Regulatory Commission during any three year period,
irrespective of the violation level, the operating
license of the facility shall be suspended for a period
of not less than 90 days and not more than 180 days.

4, Within 30 calendar days of receiving any harassment,
intimidation and discrimination ("HI&D") finding by the
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, the U.S. Department
of Labor, or any state or federal court of competent
jurisdiction, the operating license of the facility shall
be suspended for a period of not less than 90 days and
not more than 180 days.

J/.Although NU has made an economic decision not to restart
Connecticut Yankee, licensed activities still are being conducted
at that facility.




5. 1f, within five years of a license suspension based on
paragraphs 1 through 4 above, the licensee receives a
total of three license violations from the U.S. Nuclear
Regulatory Commission, irrespective of the viclation
level; receives a total of three violations of 10 C.F.R,
Part 50, including all applicable appendices, from the
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, irrespective of
violation level; receives a total of three violations of
the UFSAR from the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission,
irrespective of violation level; or receives any HI&D
finding by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, the
U.S. Department of Labor, or any state or federal court
of competent jurisdiction, the operating license of that
facility shall be permanently revoked within 90 calendar
days.

6. In the event that the license of a facility is revoked
pursuant to paragraph 5, no operation of that facility
for the purpose of generating electric power shall be
permitted during the pendency of any administrative or
judicial processes or appeals related to such revocation.

7. In the event that the license of a facility is
suspended or revoked under paragraphs one through five,
the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission shall designate an
appropriate licensee to maintain the facility in shutdown
mode for the duration of the suspension or until such
time as _a new licensee is found to operate the
facility.2 NU shall be responsible for ell expenses
related to the operation of the facility during such
shutdown. NU shall be required to post a bond in the
amount of §$500,000,000 (five hundred million) as
reasonable assurance that it «can fulfill this
reguirement.

Petitioner further requests that these conditions be imposed on the
operating licenses of Millstone Units 1, 2 and 3 prior to
Commission approval to start-up any of those plants, and further
requests that these conditions be imposed on the operating license
of Connecticut Yankee prior to any decommissioning of that plant.

2/ since even main' :ining a facility in shutdown mode is a
licensed activity, it will be necessary for the Commission to
designate a licensee to maintain the facility during any such
shutdown. The only other alternative is for the NRC to operate the
facility-an alternative which is not desirable given the
Commission’s lax regulatory posture and which is of questionable
legality.




BRatiopale for Conditions

Since August 1995 a series of public revelations about past
operations of Millstone Units 1, 2 and 3 and Connecticut Yankee
have eroded the public confidence in Northeast Utilities to safely
and legally operate any or all of its nuclear power plants.
Corresponding revslations about the abdication of regulatory
responsibility by the NRC have similarly eroded the public
confidence in the NRC to adequately protect the public health and
safety.

The only proper conclusion to be drawn from these revelations is
that NU is unfit to hold any license to operate a nuclear power
plant. Toward that end, one group of Petitioners~Citizens
Awareness Network ("CAN") axd the Nuclear Information and Resource
Service (“NIRS")=has filed a petition under 10 C.F.R. § 2.206 to
revoke the operating licenses of all NU plants in Connecticut.
However, reality dictates that the petition has no chance of
success. Indeed, the NRC has yet to rule on the reguested
licensing action in a petition filed by George J. Galatis and We
the People, Inc., of the United States in August 1995, despite the
fact that every allegation in the petition has been proved true,
has been verified by the NRC Office of Investigations or Office of
nspector General, and currently is the subject of a criminal probe
by the United States Attorney for the District of Connecticut.
Since there is wvirtually no chance the NRC will take the
appropriate licensing action, the Petitioner reguests that, in lieu
of such action, the Commission impose certain self-executing
conditions on the operating license of each facility.

From a practical perspective, the NRC has given the public only an
illusory process in 10 C.F.R. § 2.206. Two of the permissible
requested actions~revocation and suspension of a license-cannot be
granted. Even to maintain a nuclear power plant in a shutdown mode
requires the performeénce of licensed activities. The resulting
reality is that the NRC cannot revoke or suspend an operating
license because the licensee then would be unable to perform the
licensed activities required to safely maintain the shutdown plant.
Thus, an operating license can be revoked only if the NRC finds
another qualified licensee to oversee operations during shutdown.
That is @ highly unlikely event given the fact that shutdown plants
generate no revenues but conversely generate extremely high
expenses.

Also, because the NRC has allowed one utility to construct and
operate four nuclear power plants in such a small geographic area,
revocation of NU’s licenses would likely cause economic chaos in
the State of Connecticut. Llose of jobs, the cost of replacemert
power and the ultimate cost of decommissioning would end up
penalizing the residents of Connecticut, who have innocently been
exposed to unnecessary health and safety risks, instead of NU and
its officers and executives, who have engaged 1in deliberate and
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willful misconduct.

NU has promised, time and time e&gain, to address its failings
without success. Although in different positions, most of the
individuals responsible for these failings remain as part of NU
management or staff. Executive NU management maintains its
position that the past should be ignored in restart considerations.
This position apparently is embraced by the NRC as evidenced by its
willingness to commit virtually all of its resources to working
with NU on its restart plans, and virtually none of its resources
to punishing NU for its past transgressions. Moreover, NU is
attempting its recovery with primary reliance on loaned, short-term
management that may not be around to provide the required checks
and balances once normal operations resume and in the long term.
Common sense and logic dictate that there is no reasonable
assurance that NU will cease and desist from violating its
operating licenses, the regulations of the NRC and its UFSAR’s.
Nor will it cease and desist from harassing, intimidating and
discriminating against its employees who raise safety concerns.
Trust has been lost. Only a sustained period of operating within
the parameters of the law, NRC regulations, license and UFSAR
requirements, without deviation or set back, can restore that
trust.

For these reasons, and because the regulator cannot be trusted to
exercise gcod judgment on behalf of the public ic is mandated to
protect, the placement of precise limiting conditions, along with
sdequate financial precautions, on the operating licenses of
Millstone Units 1, 2 and 3 and Connecticut Yankee is the only
logical means of attempting to ensure the plants are operated
safely and legally in the future. Thus, although the Petitioner
firmly believes that NU has demonstrated that it is unfit to hold
any operating licenses, Petitioner instead seeks modification of
the licenses of Millstone Unitg 1, 2 and 3 and Connecticut Yankee
as the only logical safeguard.

Contentions of Petition

Petitioner seeks the limiting conditions on the operating licenses
of Millstone Units 1, 2 and 3 and Connecticut Yankee based on the
following contentions:

© Contention No. 1: NU has knowingly, willingly and
recklessly operated Millstone Unit 1, Unit 2, Unit 3 at

3/ Petitioner does acknowledge that the ultimate effectiveness
of the license conditions depends heavily upon proper regulation by
the NRC. There is, .a Petitioner’s opinion, no concrete evidence
that such regulation is forthcrming. However, the NRC’s failure to
edequately regulate is not properly the subject of a petition under
10 C.F.R. § 2.206.




Waterford, CT, and its Connecticut Yankee Nuclear Power
Plant at Haddam Neck, CT, in violation of their
respective operating licenses, the regulations of the
NRC, and their respective UFSAR’s for a prolonged period
of time, which  unnecessarily but significantly
compromised public health and safety by eroding the
required defense in depth philosophy.

© Contentioir No. 2: NU has knowingly, willingly and
intentionally harassed, intimidated and discriminated
against its employees who raise safety concerns in
violatinp of United States statutes and NRC regulations
for a prolonged period of time, which unnecessarily but
significantly compromised public health and safety by
eroding the required defense in depth philosophy.

© Contention No. 3: In the absence of express license
conditions, there is no reasonable assurance that NU will
cease and desist from engaging in these activities in the
future.

Each of the contentions is addressed below.

Contention No. 1

The evidence is overwhelming that, for several years now, NU has
operated as a "rogue utility" deliberately placing cost control
over safety and intentionally violating the conditions of its
operating licenses, NRC regulations and UFSAR’s. For example,
under 10 C.F.R § 50.73, NU, like all licensees, is required to
report certain specified events in License Event Reports (“LER").
Most of the events required to be reported by the regulation
specifically relate to license violations, regulatory violations,
UFSAR violations, e.g., operations outside of a plant’s design
basis, or violations of the principles of sound engineering
judgment. By its own admissions through LER’s, which have been
incomp.ete, inaccurate, misleading and intentionally false, NU has
an abysma) record. Over the last four years, the following number
LER’s have been filed for Millstone Units 1, 2 and 3 and
Connecticut Yankee:

XEAR UNIT UNIT UNIT UNIT
MP1 MP2 MP3 cY
1993 25 23 23 19
1994 33 43 15 29
1995 32 45 22 23
1996 65 41 50 30
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The industry average for LER’s per plant for 1993 through 1995 has
been 13, 12 and 11, respectively. See, Annual Report, 1994-FY 95,
Office fog Analysis and Evaluation of Operational Data (July 1996)
at p. 40.

Moreover, NU, at all of its Connecticut plante, has violated
license and regulatory requirements, cast aside good engineering
judgment and intentionally operated the plants outside of their
design bases. Revelations of this type of conduct in the past 18
months are too numerous to fully recount in this petition.
However, because extensive documentation already exists of these
examples, Petitioner reguests that the NRC take administrative
notice of certain documents listed in the section entitled,
*Evidence in Support of Petition,* infra.

But Petitioner’s request for modification of the operating licenses
of Millstone Units 1, 2 and 3 and Connecticut Yankee also is based
on personal experience. In one matter in which Petitioner was
directly involved as the alleger, NU willfully operated Millstone
Unit 1 for over 20 years without testing, as reguired, certain
containment isolation valves, including CU-29.

Petitioner originally chezllenged the decision of NU to place
testing of CU-29 in the Integrated Safety Assessment Program
("ISAP"). 1ISAP, as Petitioner pointed out to NU, was designed to
deal with new and emerging regulatory issues that had arisen since
the licensing of the plant. Testing of CU-29 was & reguirement by
virtue of the NRC’s adoption of 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix J in
February 1973. Furthermore, it became a license condition when the
full term operating license ("FTOL") was granted in 1986. Thus, it
was clearly part of the licensing basis of Millstone Unit 1 and, as
such, was improper for inclusion in ISAP. Further, Petitioner
challenged the designation of testing of CU-29 as a "low priority"
in ISAP.

When, because of Petitioner’s continued insistence, the valve was
tested in 1995 it was determined that the valve leaked excessively
and could not perform its intended safety function. Significantly,
in a report by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commissica Office of
Inspector General ("0IG"), entitled "NRC STAFF ACTIrdS TO ADDRESS
CU-29 ISOLAT.ON VALVE ISSUE," Case No. 96-06S, dat .d September 3,
1996, the OIC stated:

The OIG learned that in February 1973, the NRC issued
Appendix J "Primary Reactor Containment Leakage Testing
For Water-Cooled Power Reactors”, which became a
requirement for all licensed nuclear power reactors.
Specifically, Appendix J regquires that ell cperating
licensees for water-ccoled power reactors test the leak-

4/ No data is currently available for 1996.
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tight integrity of the primary reactor containment,
systems and components, including coatainment isolation
valves. Appendix J tests are required to be performed
during each reactor shutdown fc: refueling but in no case
et intervals greater than two years.

In August 1975, NRC requested NU to determine whether
Millstone Unit I was in full compliance with Appendix J
and if not, to identify planned actions and to prepare a
schedule to achieve compliance. NRC advised NU that
possible courses of action included modifications to
design features to permit conformaice with the testing
requirements as well as requests for exemptions from
Appendix J requirements. In November 1975, in response
to the NRC’s reqguest, NU provided a summary of
containment isolation valves and identified tests
conducted to that point. NU also identified valves which
would require exemption from Appendix J requirements.
between 1975 and 1984, the NRC staff and NU exchanged
correspondence regarding the status of NU’s compliance
with Appendix J.

In November 1984, NRC initiated the Integrated Safety
Assessment Program (ISAP) to conduct integrated
assessments for operating nuclear power reactors. The
ISAP was intended to address plant~-specific evaluations
of licensing actions, plant improvements and unresolved
generic safety issues. Millstone Unit I was one of two
operating plants selected by the NRC to participate in
the ISAP pilot program.

(I)n April 1988, NU requested exemptions relating to
Appendix J for «certain containment penetrations,
including containment isolation check valve CU-29. NU
requested an exemption from testing requirements for
check valve CU-29 because design features of the check
valve did %Pt permit testing unless certain modifications
were made.” In June 1991, the NRC denied this exemption
request. Millstone Unit I was shut down for refueling
outage 13 when NRC denied the exemption request; however,
at the end of outage 13 the licensee resumed plant
operations without testing valve CU-29.

Between October 1992 and June 1995, NRC reviewed and
concurred on several of NU’s ISAP reports which outlined
plans to modify and test valve CU-29 in ac nrdance with
Appendix J during refueling ocutage 15. Ultimately, when

®/ What the Inspector General Report does not make clear is
that NU twice requested exemptions for CU-29 and was twice turned
down by the NRC.
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tested during refuelinr outage 15, NU determined that
valve CU-29 leaked excessively and may not have been
capable of performing its intended containment isolation
function.

-

Jd. at pp. 4-5. Even more significant is the fact that CU-29 was
: designed to provide containment isolation in the event of a single
? active failure to CU-28, a motor-operated valve. It has been

determined that CU-28 was “not environmentally qualified to perform
' its containment isclation under adverse conditions.* Id. at p. 16.
y As such, this penetration and primary containment were outside of
design basis, which compromised public health and safety by eroding
the defense in depth philosophy.

Likewise, Unit 2, has seven centainment isolation valves which lack
environmental qualification.® See, Combined NRC Inspection Report
Nos. 50~245/96-06, 50~-336/96-06, 50-423/96~06. 1In a letter to Ted
C. Feigenbaum, Executive Vice President and Chief Nuclear Officer,
NU, dated October 9, 1996, accompanying the inspection report,
Wayne D. Lanning, Director, Millstone Oversight Team wrote:

The third apparent violation at Unit 2 involved the lack
of environmental qualification for seven containment
isolation valves that must be re-opened during the post-
accident phase of an accident. This issue is of
particular concern because qualifications of four of the
seven valves were the subject of specific NRC review in
1988, and the safety function for these valves was not
identified and corrected at that time. Further, the NRC
identified other weaknesses in the implementation of the
environmental qualification program that raise questions
regarding the ability of EEQ components to perform their
vafety function. Therefore, NRC considers the completion
of outstanding EEQ and high energy line break program
activities, and the revalidation of the qualification of
affected components to be a plant start-up issue.

Id. at p. 2. Thus, as with past infractions, problems which
surface at one unit usually are indicative of problems that exist

€/ In an LER filed on April 25, 1996, NU reported that at
Millstone Unit 2 the safety functional requirements ("SFR’s") of
the seven Electrical Equipment Qualification ("EEQ*) solenoid
operated valves ("SOV’s") could not be demonstrated. The report
' noted the “SFR’s indicate that these SOV’s are required for
containment isolation and subsequent post-accident operation.” LER
96-019-00, April 25, 1996 at p. 1. The incident is safety
significant because NU “"cannot demonstrate reaconable assurance
that the 7 listed EEQ valves would have performed their safety

function on demand post-accident." Id. at p. 4.
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&t NU’s other units.

In addition to evidence that problems that are identified at one
unit also exist at other units, there is overwhelming evidence that
multiple, related problems have been allowed to exist that
compromise safety beyond any acceptable limits. For example, in
conjunction with the problems previously outlined with regard to
CU-29 and CU-28, piping system welds associated with those valves
suffered from intergranular stress corrosion cracking ("IGSCC*)-a
phenomenon of which the industry has been aware for many years and
which was the subject of NRC Generic Letter (*“GL") 88-01, *NRC
Position on IGSCC in BWR Austenitic Stainless Steel Piping."”

The above-cited inspection report concluded:

During the RFO 15 inspection, thirty five (35) welds were
examined containing IGSCC. Fourteen of the 35 welds were
previously identified by the UT’ Level II technician, as
early as 1984, as having at least one IGSCC indication,
and were subsequently overturned by the NDE® Level III.
The disposition of the 35 welds with IGSCC, during RFO
15, was to replace the component or weld overlay the
components prior to start-up.

Six reactor coolant components (RCAJ-2, RRJJ-4, RREJ~-4,
RRCJ-4 and CUBJ-18) with flaws were placed inservice,
between 1984 and 1995, without flaw analysis as required
by ASME Section XI, 1986 Edition, Paragraph IWB-3640.
During the UT examinations, each component had at least
one IGSCC indication. The ASME Section XI analysis was
not performed on the components because the UT Level III
inappropriately evaluated the IGSCC indications to be
geometry. The indications were determined to be cracks
during refueling outage 15. The licensee performed an
evaluation during the November 1995 refueling outage, RFO
15, in accordance with ASME Section XI, 1986 Edition,
IWB-3640, to detrrmine the operability to the components.
The licensee determined the components did not meet the
requirements for continued service and declared the
components inoperable. The licensee defined
inoperability of a component as a decrease or elimination
of the operating safety margin for structural integrity.
The licensee determined the safety margin is decreased
when a crack through wall dimension in the component is

7/ *ultrasonic Testing."

8/ “Non-Destructive Examination." It should be noted that the
NDE Level 1II is an industry certified person. The number of
"errors" made by the NDE Level III in this case is strongly
Andicative that the “errors” were intentional.
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equal to or greater than 75% of the pipe wall nominal
thickness.

The six components had intergranular stress corrosion
cracks (IGSCC) that were greater than 75% through the
wall. Two of the six components leaked <during
preparation for weld overlay. The reactor coolant
systems were degraded to the extent a detailed evaluation
was necessary to determine system operability. The
results of the licensees (sic) evaluation determined the
six components had an unacceptable structural integrity
end a high probability of abnormal leakage.

Id. at § M1.2b, 181 Program Review (emphasis added).

Of particular significance is the finding with respect to pipe weld
CUBJ~18 because of its direct connection with CU-29. In Licensee
Event Report ("LER") 95-029~00, dated December 15, 1995, NU stated:

A structural review was performed for CUBJ-18 and
concluded that operability may not have maintained in the
event of a design basis seismic event. In the worst
case, and the weld had failed, leakage from the reactor
would have been limited by check valve 1-CU-29. This
valve was inspected during this outage and verified that
it would have shut and prevented gross leakage from the
penetration. . . .

Id. at p. 4 (emphasis added). 1In other words, one of the pipe
welds most susceptible in the event of a seismic event was in the
worst possible location, i.e., between CU-29 and CU-28, and outside
primary containment. ~

Although NU, in LER 95-029-00, took credit for an operable CU-29
check valve, in LER 96-012-00, dated March 7, 1996, NU conceded:

On December 3, 1995, with the plant shutdown and the
reactor in COLD SHUTXOWN condition, it was determined
that a reactor water cleanup system containment isolation
check valve, 1-CU~-29, had excesded its maximum rate leak
while it was in operation. . . .

Id. at p. 1 (emphasis added).® NU concluded that there *were no
adverse safety consequences” as a result of CU-29 being inoperable
"since the redundant valve in the penetration was capable of
performing the containment isolation function.* Id. at p. 2. 1In
making this determination, NU deliberately and intentionally
omitted any consideration of the IGSCC that had occurred to pipe

' 9/ Nowhere in LER 96-012-00 does NU mention ite earlier
findings regarding IGSCC and pipe weld CUBJ-18.

11
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weld CUBJ-18 per LER 95-029-00, despite the fact that the design
basis for primary containment includes a "design basis earthquake
(DBE)* according to the UFSAR. See, UFSAR at Sec. 6.2.1.1.1.

Not only do the above-described events constitute a course of
deliberate and intentional misconduct, as well as deliberate and
intentional material false statements, but it is clear that NU,
through these actions, significantly jeopardized the public health
and safety. Far from the *“defense in depth® strategy employed in
the design and operation of nuclear power plants, NU allowed
Millstone Unit 1 to operate in conditions where a single failure
would have resulted in an uncontrolled release of radiation. Pipe
weld CUBJ~18 had an excessively deep crack which made the piping
system inoperable; simply stated, an earthquake could result in a
failure of the piping system allowing a direct release path of
reactor coolant or containment atmosphere outside primary
containment through leaking CU-29 with no means to isolate.

Petitioner also has direct knowledge that the deliberate and
intentional disregard for license requirements, NRC regulations,
good engineering judgment and the design basis of the Millstone
units continues in the present under NU’s new management. For
example, during the November 1995 refueling outage, Petitioner
observed “"scale" in the Low Pressure Coolant Injection ("LPCI")
heat exchanger tubing after the tubing was hydrolazed.

Problems with scaling had been identified and addressed by the NRC
in GL 89-13, "Service Water System Problems Affecting Safety
Related Equipment,* dated July 18, 1989, and GL 89-13, Supplement
l, dated April 4, 1990. According to Northeast Utilities
Independent Root Cause Evaluation, A/R 96008360, *“MP1 LPCI Heat
Exchanger Tube Scaling," approved July 11, 1996:

During 1969/1990, the NRC issued GL 89-13 and Supplement
I8 The GL identified tubing scale (e.g., calcium
carbonate deposits) as one type of fouling known to
degrade service water heat exchanger performance. The
plan outlined in GL 89-13 intended that the industry
perform thermal performance testing of their safety
related service water heat exchangers. The general
response by the industry to GL 89~-13, including NU, was
to delay its implementestion and/or pursue low cost
alternatives to the thermal performance testing plan
outlined by the NRC. . . .

While NU was taking FRMIO approach, the NRC was
conducting Service Water System Operational Performance
Inspections (SWSOPI’s) throughout the nuclear power
industry that included an assessment of utility responses

10, “Frequent Regular Maintenance."
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to GL 89-13. Early findings from these SWSOPI’s were
reported to the industry and highlighted to MP and CY
Engineering Groups in memo ES-ME-94-076, dated February
18, 1994. This memo pointed out that the FRM approach was
being seriously challenged by the NRC, basically because
the NRC was finding an absence of a comprehensive,
documented evalvation of each heat exchanger’s capability
to meet its design thermal reguirements.

Id. at pp. 5-6.

During the November 1995 outage, Petitioner questioned the
potential safety impact of the scaling on the heat exchangers,
particularly given the low safety margin of the LPCI heat
exchangers. Petitioner was told that thermal perqumanca testing
would be conducted prior to the end of the outage. However, NU
deliberately and intentionally took no action to perform such
testing and, instead, prepared to restart without conducting the
test. At that time (January 1996), Petitioner discussed the
situation with the NU Employee Concerns Program ("ECP") which
confirmed the low safety margin. However, ECP took no further
action.

Finally, on March 26 1996, Petitioner initiated Adverse Condition
Report ("ACR") 9801 declaring the LPCI heat exchangers inoperable.
The Root Cause Analysis referenced above also found that Millstone
Units 2 and Connecticut Yankee had no definitive inspection
procedures for heat exchangers and that Millstone Unit 3 only had
& visual inspection program to detect macrofouling by blue mussels.
Id. at p. 6.

When it became apparent that NU still would not conduct the
required test, Petitioner brought his concerns to the NRC, Region
1. On May 14, 1996, Richard Cooper, Director, Division of Reactor
Projects, Region 1, referred Petitioner’s allegation regarding LPCI
back to NU through Ted C. Feigenbaum, Executive Vice President,
Nuclear.1? Although Mr. Feigenbaum was advised that the
distribution of the allegation should be controlled and "limited to
personnel with a ‘need to know,’* the allegation received

31, 1t is important to note that, at this time, Millstone Unit
1 was still in a planned refuel outage. That outage later was
extended by a 10 C.F.R. § 50.54(f) letter and placement of Unit 1
on the NRC "Watch List." The plant was later degraded to &
Category 3 plant and may not restart until given approval by a vote
of the Commission.

12, The referral was contrary to the NRC Volume B, Licensee
Oversight Programs, Management of Allegations Handbook. The NRC’s
referral of the allegation back to NU currently is the subject of
an investigation by the Office of Inspector General.
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widespread distribution at the Millstone site. This fact was
acknowledged in the Independent Root Cause Evaluation cited above,
which stated "[b)ecause of the uncontrolled distribution of the NRC
transmittal, personnel involved with the LPCI scale issue appeared
guarded and, at times, focused more on the NRC allegation than on
the scale issue and any generic implications." Id. at Addendum, p.
1. One of the personnel involved with the Independent Root Cause
Evaluation specifically referred to the matter as the *“Cizek
Affair.”

The same Root Cause Evaluation recommends that “future NRC
allegation issuees be evaluated by a third party until NU . . . has
the forthrightness to handle such issues appropriately.* Id. at
Addendum, p. 1. After continued persistence, Petitioner convinced
the ECP Director to return "referred allegations” back to the NRC.
However, the director’s decision was overturned by Mr. Feigenbaum.
Subsequently, at Mr. Feigenbaum’s direction, *referred allegations"
are addressed as standard practice within Nuclear Oversight without
the involvement of ECP.

Aczording to a subsequent root cause analysis performed by
Millstone Unit | Engineering, “"the reason for not assessing the
affect on heat exchanger performance is . . . the lack of having
comprehensive heat exchanger testing,. monitoring, and visual
inspection programs with clearly defined acceptance criteria."”
See, "Northeast Utilities Root Cause Investigation: Heat Exchanger
Tube Side Scale Formation," Rev. 2, at p. 2, dated December 12,
1996. Typical of NU’s intentional disregard of safety issues is
the conclusion that the root cause was the failure tc have an
effective program. The root cause analysis fails to ask the
obvious question: Why wasn’t there such an effective program? The
answer: Because NU had Jdeliberately delayed developing and
implementing such a program even efter being advised by the NRC
that the FRM approach was questionable, if not completely
inadequate.

Other examp.es of NU’s deliberate misconduct abound. For example,
in Notice of Violation (NRC Combined Inspection Report No. 50~
245/95-31; 50-336/95~31; 50-423/95-31), dated December 7, 1995, the
Commission decided to excuse NU’s conduct for two significant
violations at Millstone Unit 1,

The first violation involved an existing single failure
vulnerability in the loss of normal power logic that
would have prevented both emergency power sources from
properly starting and sequencing required loads. This
constitutes a violation of your technical specification
becauege in the event of a single failure, followirg a
loss of normal power during a Loss of Coolant Accident
(LOCA), a loss of both emergency power sources would
occur. The violation was caused by your inadeguate
design reviews of two different modifications installed
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in 1976 and 1989, which failed to detect the single
failure vulnerability.

The second violation . . . involved two examples of
existing vulnerabilities in the standby gas treatment
system (SGTS). 1In the first example the system could
rupture if a LOCA occurred while venting the drywell,
which would result in a complete loss of SGTS because the
drywell isclation valves would not close in time to
prevent the pressure wave generated from the LOCA from
affecting the integrity of both trains of the system’s
filters. Second, an  existing single failure
vulnerability in the SGTS would prevent the system from
mitigating the effects of a LOCA. Specifically, during
@ LOCA, the inability to isolate one train on the SGTS,
if it were to fail in conjunction with the inadequate
backdraft damper design, would allow a short cycle flow
path to be established. This flowpath would prevent
establishing or maintaining the reactor building negative
pressure, which is required to prevent a post LOCA ground
level release.

Id. at pp. 1-2 (emphasis added). The violations regarding the SGTS
are particularly significant since that is one of the major systems
that would have been relied upon in the event of a release outside
primary containment due to the previously cited CU-29 scenario. 1In
short, NU operated Millstone Unit 1 in such a way that fundamental
design basis assumptions could result in an unacceptable post~LOCA
ground level release. Simply stated, multiple systems were outside
their design basis which reduced safety margin and compromised
public health and safety. Fortunately, no design basis accident
occurred.

In an inspection between November $ and December 26, 1995, NRC
resident i.spectors found other violations that are indicative of
intentional misconduct, or at the least reckless disregard for
license requirements. For example, at Millstone Unit 1, during

shutdown:

The operations staff failed to prevent work that had the
potential for draining the 1eactor vessel while fuel
removal was in progress, as required by technical
specifications. The licensee does not have an adeguate
process to ensure all applicable technical specifications
are implemented during refueling. A violation was cited
because it is an example of continuing problems with
inadeguate implementation of current regulatory
requirements. The licensee’s subseqguent position that
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established a 50 GPM'? leak as threshold for the
potential for draining the reactor vessel was
inconsistent with the licensing basis that established
the applicable technical specification.

Operator actions to raise reactor pressure above the
initial pressure assumed in accident analysis reflected
a leck of understanding and respect for the plant’s
design basis. . . . [T)his issue is significant because
operators purposefully changed the normal operating
practice without implementing appropriate procedural
controls including the necessary safety evaluation. In
addition, the licensee failed to implement prompt
procedure changes when the lack of procedural control
over operating reactor pressure was identified on two
prior occasions.

Executive Summary, Millstone Nuclear Power Station, Combined
Inspection 245/95-42, 336/95-42, 423/95~42, February 6, 1996 at p.
ii (emphasis added).

The same inspection report found that, during the November 1995
shutdown of Unit 3 “(a]n unplanned dilution of the reactor coolant
system occurred due to inadequate procedures, poor communications
between the Chemistry and Operations Department, and poor
maintenance of the letdown F.gh temperature divert valve.* The
report noted that this was the fourth unplanned dilution event at
Unit 3 since December of 1993. Id. at p. iii.

In two other instances at Unit 3, the inspectors found:

At Unit 3, licensee management displayed a lack of
conservative safety perspective in not validating the
conditions that exited with a leaking 10-inch unisolable
check wvalve in RCS. The associated operability
determination was based on engineering judgment and
assumptions, and was not entirely accurate.

[T)he socket weld failures should have been prevented by
corrective actions for similar vibration induced failures
identified in 1994. The licensee postponed these socket
weld repairs during the 1995 refueling outage, based in
the inappropriate safety judgment that any socket weld
failures would only result in a small RCS leak.

Id. at p v.

A December 13, 1995 LER provides another example of NU deliberately
deciding to tolerate conditions that result in license violations.

13, «Gallons per minute.*
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This time, the event involved Millstone Unit 2 where reactor core
power exceed the rated thermal power of 2,700 megawatts for a
period of some 11 hours. According to the LER:

On November 15, 1995, at 1045 hours with the plant
operating in Mode 1 at 100% power, a review of plant
operating parameters identified that the reactor core
therm<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>